
 CITY OF GOLD BAR 
COUNCIL MEETING  

Tuesday, March 5, 2024 
7:00 PM 

CITY HALL 
 

 

CALL TO ORDER, FLAG SALUTE, ROLL CALL 

 

AGENDA APPROVAL   

 

MAYOR'S REPORT, STAFF REPORTS, COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 

CITIZEN COMMENTS (SIGN-IN REQUIRED, LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES) 

 

CONTINUED BUSINESS - none 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS  

1. REET GRANT INTERLOCAL – DISCUSSION AND ACTION 

 

 

FINAL COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 

MINUTES APPROVAL February 20, 2024     

   

VOUCHER APPROVAL    

CHECKS   CLAIMS  PAYROLL & TAXES  TOTAL 

37457 - 37489 $27,786.80 $46,249.39 $74,036.19 
 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 



 
 

1 
 

 
 

City of Gold Bar Council Meeting Minutes  
Tuesday, February 20, 2024 

 
CALL TO ORDER, FLAG SALUTE, ROLL CALL 
 
Mayor Yarbrough called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. The meeting was held in hybrid format, by Zoom and in 
person. Present in person were Councilmembers Lie and Martin. Staff members present in person were Chief 
Whalen, Public Works Director Norris, and Clerk Stowe. Councilmembers Phillips, Russell, and Sears attended via 
Zoom. Office Manager Beaston attended via Zoom.  
 
AGENDA APPROVAL 
 
Councilmember Martin moved to adopt the agenda as presented and with a second by both Councilmembers Sears 
and Russell, the motion carried. 
 
MAYOR’S REPORT  
 
Mayor Yarbrough talked about an outdoor athletic facility grant the city is looking at, an upcoming Department of 
Emergency Management meeting for senior officials, and community volunteer awards. Curtis Kimble was awarded 
a certificate for work on the Wayside Chapel.  
 
STAFF REPORT  
 
Chief Whalen talked about the motor unit for traffic control, that twenty infractions were written in a two-hour 
period on Croft Avenue, a new program for crisis co-responders, and the current crisis co-responder that will have 
two nights a week in Sultan. Councilmember Lie asked about Index Galena Road and there was brief discussion.  
 
Director Norris has been asked for a letter in support of a new roundabout in Sultan. The consensus of the Council 
was to approve this letter. Director Norris said staff have been using the new streetsweeper and it is working well. 
He also talked about the new federal requirement for doing an inventory on water system lines. This will be a huge 
project and residents may have city staff coming to their homes to ask about pipes. Councilmember Russell said he 
has heard compliments about the streetsweeper and how easy city staff are to work with.  
 
COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Councilmember Sears is excited to see how the new program with crisis responders goes. 
 
Councilmember Lie talked about Snohomish County Tomorrow meeting changes and that the upcoming meeting 
will be addressing Sound Transit and a growth monitoring report. He also talked about Wallace Falls and parking 
during construction. 
 
Councilmember Martin talked about cold weather shelters in Monroe, using community transit to reach them, and 
that they are available until March. 
 
Councilmember Russell attended a recent Block Watch meeting. 
 



Gold Bar Council Minutes February 20, 2024 

2 
 

Councilmember Phillips asked about issues with water pressure. There was discussion about high pressure valves, 
what triggers them, and an upcoming test. He asked her to call him if there if the issue happens again.  
 
CITIZEN COMMENTS  
 
Clerk Stowe reviewed the public comment process. 
 
Curtis Kimble talked about the Block Watch group and plans they hope to accomplish. He also said they are 
applying for non-profit status. Councilmember Lie asked if the meetings could be live on social media or in real 
time and Mr. Kimble said he would make sure that happened. Mr. Kimble talked about donations for holiday gifts. 
Councilmember Martin reminded him that the fire department also does this, and Mayor Yarbrough reminded him 
that the Sheriff’s Department and the organization Sky Valley Strong do the same. 
 
Mayor Yarbrough presented Mr. Kimble with his community award certificate. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Clerk Stowe called the public hearing to order at 7:35 pm and reviewed the process for the hearing. No 
councilmember had any reason to be recused from the meeting, no ex parte issues, and no appearance of fairness 
issues. The applicable agenda was review of the comprehensive plan draft. 
 
Comments from Councilmember Lie were reviewed. There were comments from Julia Palekha, Shera Ball, and 
Kara Bensley regarding community gathering spaces, roundabouts, crosswalks, picnic areas, and sewer systems and 
the impact of that on infrastructure.  
 
Director Norris will review all comments. The current draft has gone out to agencies for review. After all comments 
are addressed, the final draft will be made publicly available in April and then submitted in May.  
 
With no further discussion, Councilmember Sears moved to adjourn the public hearing. With a second by 
Councilmember Phillips, the motion carried and the regular agenda was returned to at 7:50 pm. 
 
CONTINUED BUSINESS - none 
 
NEW BUSINESS  
 
Everett Animal Shelter Interlocal. Clerk Stowe presented the annual interlocal. Councilmember Martin moved to 
authorize Mayor Yarbrough to enter into the interlocal and with a second by Councilmember Sears the motion 
carried. 
 
Resolution 24-01, LGIP Authorization. Clerk Stowe reviewed the Local Government Investment Pool and resolution 
relating to authorizing the clerk to make deposits and withdrawals. Councilmember Sears moved to adopt 
Resolution 24-01 as presented and with a second by Councilmember Phillips, the motion carried. 
 
FINAL COUNCIL COMMENTS/OTHER BUSINESS  
 
Mayor Yarbrough spoke briefly about the Department of Transportation (DOT) proposed crosswalk and there was 
brief discussion about the need to have DOT attend a council meeting and speak to staff directly. Councilmembers 
Lie, Russell, and Sears expressed concerns about the crosswalk and the need to have more details. DOT has shared 
plans previously. 
 
Councilmember Martin said the Red Hats organization will be sponsoring an egg hunt and accepting donations. 
 
Councilmember Phillips talked about the Block Watch group, and the possibility of using the council chambers for 
public use. Mayor Yarbrough said the chambers are available but if it is used after business hours then staff must 
work. 
 



Gold Bar Council Minutes February 20, 2024 

3 
 

MINUTES APPROVAL 
 
Councilmember Sears moved to approve the February 6th, 2024, minutes as presented and with a second by 
Councilmember Phillips, the motion carried. 
 
VOUCHER APPROVAL  
 
Councilmember Martin moved to approve checks numbering 37430 through 37456 with $58,949.87 for claims and 
$1,200.00 for payroll and taxes, for a grand total of $60,149.87 and with a second by both Councilmembers Sears 
and Russell, the motion carried.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Councilmember Sears moved to adjourn the meeting and with a second by both Councilmembers Phillips and 
Russell the motion carried, and the meeting was adjourned at 8:02 pm. 
 
 
__________________________    ___________________________ 
Steve Yarbrough, Mayor     Lisa Stowe, Clerk/Treasurer  





  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 1 of 9 
 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH COUNTY AND THE CITY 
OF GOLD BAR FOR THE LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

 
This INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), is made by and between 

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington (the “County”), and 
the City of Gold Bar, a Washington municipal corporation (the “City”), collectively the “Parties,” 
pursuant to chapter 39.34 RCW. 

 
RECITALS 

 
 
A. Amendment #1 to the 2024 Adopted Budget, approved by Ordinance 23-120, 

included $800,000 of REET II funds, collected pursuant to chapter 82.46 RCW, to be split equally 
between the five council districts for Council/City Partnership Projects; and 

 
B. The County Council adopted benchmarks for Council/City Partnership Projects 

through Motion 23-259; and 
 
C. Pursuant to the adopted benchmarks, the Council identified various projects for 

inclusion in the Council/City Partnership Projects; and  
 

D. One of the identified Council/City projects is the City’s Linda Ave Paving (“the 
Project”) which will pave a 22’ wide roadway over the recently installed water main; and  

 
E. Snohomish County has agreed to provide Fifty Thousand ($50,000) of REET II 

funds (the “Funds”) in support of the Project; and 
 
F. The City has provided the following: copy of submission form for County funds 

(Attachment A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference); proof of City ownership  of 
the Project property (Attachment B, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference); 
relevant portions of the City’s Capital Facilities Plan (“CFP”) identifying the Project  (Attachment 
C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference); and proof of insurance if not covered 
by WCIA (Attachment D, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference); and 

 
G. Pursuant to this Agreement, the County wishes to provide, and the City wishes to 

accept, the above-described Funds from the County. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective agreements set forth below and 

for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the County and the City agree as follows: 
 
1. Purpose of Agreement. 

 
This Agreement is authorized by and entered into pursuant to chapter 39.34 RCW. The 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 2 of 9 
 

purpose and intent of this Agreement is to define the responsibilities of the County and the City as 
they relate to the County’s provision of the funds to the City’s Project located at Linda Ave 
between 6th and 8th Street, Gold Bar, WA 98251  (the “Property”).  

 
2. Effective Date and Duration. 

 
This Agreement shall take effect when it has been duly executed by both parties  and either 

filed with the County Auditor or posted on the County’s Interlocal Agreements website. This 
Agreement shall remain in effect through December 31, 2025, unless earlier terminated pursuant 
to the provisions of Section 12 below; PROVIDED HOWEVER, that each party’s obligations are 
contingent upon local legislative appropriation of necessary funds for this specific purpose in 
accordance with applicable law. 
 
3. Administrators.   
 

Each party to this Agreement shall designate an individual (an “Administrator”), who may 
be designated by title or position, to oversee and administer such party’s participation in this 
Agreement. The Parties’ initial Administrators shall be the following individuals: 

 
County’s Initial Administrator: 
 
Rich Patton, Division Manager 
Snohomish County Division of Parks & 
Recreation 
6705 Puget Park Drive 
Snohomish, Washington 98296 
(425) 388-6618 phone 
Rich.patton@snoco.org 

City’s Initial Administrator: 
 
Steve Yarbrough, Mayor 
City of Gold Bar 
107 5th Street 
Gold Bar, WA 98251 
425-793-1101 
mayor@cityofgoldbar.us 

 
Either party may change its Administrator at any time by delivering written notice of such 

party’s new Administrator to the other party. 
 

4. Project Performance.  
 
 4.1 Certification of Real Property Interest.  The City certifies to the County that the 
City owns the Property, as evidenced by Exhibit B, and additional real property or easements are 
not needed to complete the Project.  
 
 4.2 City’s Financial Commitment.  The City certifies to the County that the City will 
have sufficient monies to complete the Project by the Project deadline identified in Section 4.4 
below and that the Project was included in the City’s CFP as evidenced by Attachment C. 
 
 4.3     Project Completion.   The City shall complete the Project as detailed in Attachment  
 

4.4 Project Deadline.  On or before December 31, 2025, the City shall complete the 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 3 of 9 
 

Project. In executing the Project, the City shall obtain and, upon request, provide the County with 
copies of all permits necessary to complete the Project. 
 
 4.5 Recognition of County as Financial Sponsor.  The City shall recognize the County 
as a financial sponsor of the Project as follows: 
 
  4.5.1 Upon completion of the Project or dedication of the completed Project, 
whichever comes first, the City shall install at the Project site a plaque in a form approved by the 
County that indicates that the County is a financial sponsor of or contributor to the Project; 
 
  4.5.2 The City shall invite the County to all events promoting the Project and 
recognize the County at all such events as a financial sponsor of the Project; 
 
  4.5.3 The City shall recognize the County as a financial sponsor in all brochures, 
banners, posters, and other promotional material related to the Project. 
 
 4.6 Project Maintenance.  The City shall be responsible for on-going capital 
improvements to, and maintenance of, the Project and the Property. The County makes no 
commitment to support the Project or Property beyond what is provided for in this Agreement and 
assumes no obligation for future support of the Project or Property except as expressly set forth in 
this Agreement. 
 
 4.7 Availability to County Residents.  The City shall make the Property available to all 
County residents on the same terms as it is available to residents of the City. 
 
5. Invoicing and Payment. 
 
 5.1 Invoicing. Within thirty days of final completion of the Project or by December 
30, 2025, whichever occurs first. The City shall submit to the County one invoice on City 
letterhead requesting disbursement of the Funds for the Project. The invoice needs to include 
name and address of City, name and the address of who the invoice is addressed to (the County), 
the date, the amount being requested for reimbursement, and the name of the project being 
funded.   Invoices shall provide line-item detail for materials, labor and overhead. Backup 
documentation should include of copies of invoices paid by the City to contractors/consultants 
for the work performed, which covers the full amount being requested for reimbursement 
and  proof of payment on those invoices. Additionally, providing progress photos of the site is 
strongly recommended with prior, during and after completion photos. 
 

5.2 Payment.  Unless the County delivers to the City written notice disputing the 
amount of a particular line item, within twenty (20) working days of receipt from the City of an 
invoice properly submitted to the County pursuant to Section 5.1, the County shall remit to the 
City an amount not to exceed Fifty Thousand ($50,000). In the event the total costs of the Project 
are less than $50,000, the County shall only remit those funds necessary to pay the submitted 
invoice in full unless otherwise disputed as provided in this Section 5.2. 
  



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 4 of 9 
 

 5.3 Accounting.  The City shall maintain a system of accounting and internal controls 
that complies with generally accepted accounting principles and governmental accounting and 
financial reporting standards and provisions concerning preservation and destruction of public 
documents in accordance with applicable laws, including chapter 40.14 RCW. 
 
 5.4 Recordkeeping.  The City shall maintain adequate records to support billings. The 
records shall be maintained by the City for a period of six (6) years after completion of this 
Agreement. The County, or any of its duly authorized representatives, shall have access to books, 
documents, or papers and records of the City relating to this Agreement for purposes of inspection, 
audit, or the making of excerpts or transcripts. 
 
 5.5 Audit and Repayment.  The City shall return Funds disbursed to it by the County 
under this Agreement upon the occurrence of any of the following events: 
 

5.5.1 If overpayments are made; or 
 
5.5.2 If an audit of the Project by the State or the County determines that the 
Funds have been expended for purposes not permitted by the REET II statute, the 
State, the County, or this Agreement. 

 
In the case of 5.5.1 or 5.5.2, the County shall make a written demand upon the City for repayment, 
and the City shall be obligated to repay to the County the Funds demanded within sixty (60) 
calendar days of the demand.  The County’s right to demand repayment from the City may be 
exercised as often as necessary to recoup from the City all funds required to be returned to the 
County. 

 
The City is solely responsible for seeking repayment from any subcontractor in conformance with 
its debt collection policy. 
 
6. Independent Contractor.  
 
 The City will perform all work associated with the Project as an independent contractor and not 
as an agent, employee, or servant of the County. The City shall be solely responsible for control, 
supervision, direction and discipline of its personnel, who shall be employees and agents of the 
City and not the County. The County shall only have the right to ensure performance. 

 
7. Indemnification/Hold Harmless. 

 
The City shall assume the risk of liability for damage, loss, costs and expense arising out 

of the activities under this Agreement and all use of any improvements it may place on the 
Property. The City shall hold harmless, indemnify and defend the County, its officers, elected and 
appointed officials, employees and agents from and against all claims, losses, lawsuits, actions, 
counsel fees, litigation costs, expenses, damages, judgments, or decrees by reason of damage to 
any property or business and/or any death, injury or disability to or of any person or party, 
including but not limited to any employee, arising out of or suffered, directly or indirectly, by 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 5 of 9 
 

reason of or in connection with the acquisition or use of the Property and this Agreement; 
PROVIDED, that the above indemnification does not apply to those damages solely caused by the 
negligence or willful misconduct of the County, its elected and appointed officials, officers, 
employees or agents. This indemnification obligation shall include, but is not limited to, all claims 
against the County by an employee or former employee of City, and City, by mutual negotiation, 
expressly waives all immunity and limitation on liability, as respects the County only, under any 
industrial insurance act, including Title 51 RCW, other Worker’s Compensation act, disability 
benefit act, or other employee benefit act of any jurisdiction which would otherwise be applicable 
in the case of such claim.    

 
8. Liability Related to City Ordinances, Policies, Rules and Regulations. 
 
 In executing this Agreement, the County does not assume liability or responsibility for or 
in any way release the City from any liability or responsibility which arises in whole or in part 
from the existence or effect of City ordinances, policies, rules or regulations. If any cause, claim, 
suit, action or administrative proceeding is commenced in which the enforceability and/or validity 
of any such City ordinance, policy, rule or regulation is at issue, the City shall defend the same at 
its sole expense and, if judgment is entered or damages are awarded against the City, the County, 
or both, the City shall satisfy the same, including all chargeable costs and reasonable attorney’s 
fees. 
 
9. Insurance. 

 
The City shall procure and maintain for the duration of this Agreement, insurance against 

claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from, or in connection with, 
exercise of the rights and privileges granted by this Agreement, by the City, its agents, 
representatives, and employees/subcontractors. The cost of such insurance shall be paid by the 
City. 

 
9.1 Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  General Liability:  Insurance Services 

Office Form No. CG 00 01 Ed. 11-88, covering COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY with 
limits no less than $1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury, personal 
injury, and property damage. 

 
9.2 Other Insurance Provisions.  Coverage shall be written on an “Occurrence” form. 

The insurance policies required in this Agreement are to contain or be endorsed to contain the 
County, its officers, officials, employees, and agents as additional insureds as respects liability 
arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of the [City/Town/District] in connection with 
this Agreement. 

 
9.3 Verification of Coverage.  The City shall furnish the County with certificate(s) of 

insurance and endorsement(s) required as evidenced by Attachment D.   
 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 6 of 9 
 

9.4 If the City is self-insured, in lieu of the insurance required in this Section 9, the City 
shall, upon request of the County, provide the County a letter certifying the City’s self-insurance 
program. 

 
10. Compliance with Laws. 

 
In the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, each party shall comply with 

all applicable federal, state, and local laws, rules and regulations. 
 

11. Default and Remedies. 
 
11.1 Default.  If either the County or the City fails to perform any act or obligation 

required to be performed by it hereunder, the other party shall deliver written notice of such failure 
to the non-performing party. The non-performing party shall have twenty (20) days after its receipt 
of such notice in which to correct its failure to perform the act or obligation at issue, after which 
time it shall be in default (“Default”) under this Agreement; provided, however, that if the non-
performance is of a type that could not reasonably be cured within said twenty (20) day period, 
then the non-performing party shall not be in Default if it commences cure within said twenty (20) 
day period and thereafter diligently pursues cure to completion. 

 
11.2 Remedies.  In the event of a party’s Default under this Agreement, then after 

giving notice and an opportunity to cure pursuant to Section 11.1 above, the non-Defaulting party 
shall have the right to exercise any or all rights and remedies available to it in law or equity. 

 
12. Early Termination. 

 
12.1 30 Days’ Notice. Except as provided in Section 12.2 below, either party may 

terminate this Agreement at any time, with or without cause, upon not less than thirty (30) days’ 
advance written notice to the other party. The termination notice shall specify the date on which 
the Agreement shall terminate. 

 
12.2 Termination for Breach. In the event that the City fails to complete the Project by 

December 31, 2025 and/or otherwise commits a Default as described in Section 11, the County 
may terminate this Agreement immediately by delivering written notice to the City. Within thirty 
(30) days of such early termination, the City shall return to the County all Funds previously 
disbursed from the County to the City for the Project plus interest at the rate of twelve percent 
(12%) per annum beginning thirty (30) days from the date of early termination. 
 
13. Dispute Resolution. 

 
In the event differences between the Parties should arise over the terms and conditions or 

the performance of this Agreement, the Parties shall use their best efforts to resolve those 
differences on an informal basis. If those differences cannot be resolved informally, the matter 
may be referred for mediation to a mediator mutually selected by the Parties. If mediation is not 
successful or if a party waives mediation, either of the Parties may institute legal action for specific 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 7 of 9 
 

performance of this Agreement or for damages.  
 

14. Notices. 
 
All notices required to be given by any party to the other party under this Agreement shall 

be in writing and shall be delivered either in person, by United States mail, or by electronic mail 
(email) to the applicable Administrator or the Administrator’s designee. Notice delivered in person 
shall be deemed given when accepted by the recipient. Notice by United States mail shall be 
deemed given as of the date the same is deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, and 
addressed to the Administrator, or their designee, at the addresses set forth in Section 3 of this 
Agreement. Notice delivered by email shall be deemed given as of the date and time received by 
the recipient.   

 
15. Miscellaneous. 

 
15.1 Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 

between the Parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any and all prior oral or 
written agreements between the Parties regarding the subject matter contained herein. This 
Agreement may not be modified or amended in any manner except by a written document executed 
with the same formalities as required for this Agreement and signed by the party against whom 
such modification is sought to be enforced. 
 
 15.2 Conflicts between Attachments and Text.  Should any conflicts exist between any 
attached exhibit or schedule and the text or main body of this Agreement, the text or main body of 
this Agreement shall prevail. 
 

15.3 Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed by and enforced 
in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington. The venue of any action arising out of this 
Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the State of Washington, in and for Snohomish 
County.  
 

15.4 Interpretation.  This Agreement and each of the terms and provisions of it are 
deemed to have been explicitly negotiated by the Parties, and the language in all parts of this 
Agreement shall, in all cases, be construed according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or 
against either of the Parties hereto. The captions and headings in this Agreement are used only for 
convenience and are not intended to affect the interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement. 
This Agreement shall be construed so that wherever applicable the use of the singular number shall 
include the plural number, and vice versa, and the use of any gender shall be applicable to all 
genders. 

 
15.5 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any 

person or circumstance shall, for any reason and to any extent, be found invalid or unenforceable, 
the remainder of this Agreement and the application of that provision to other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby, but shall instead continue in full force and effect, to 
the extent permitted by law. 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 8 of 9 
 

 
15.6 No Waiver.  A party’s forbearance or delay in exercising any right or remedy with 

respect to a Default by the other party under this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the 
Default at issue. Nor shall a waiver by either party of any particular Default constitute a waiver of 
any other Default or any similar future Default.  
 

15.7 No Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assigned, either in whole or in part, 
by either party without the express written consent of the other party, which may be granted or 
withheld in such party’s sole discretion. Any attempt to assign this Agreement in violation of the 
preceding sentence shall be null and void and shall constitute a Default under this Agreement. 
 

15.8 Warranty of Authority.  Each of the signatories hereto warrants and represents 
that he or she is competent and authorized to enter into this Agreement on behalf of the party for 
whom he or she purports to sign this Agreement. 
 

15.9 No Joint Venture.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as 
creating any type or manner of partnership, joint venture or other joint enterprise between the 
Parties. 

 
15.10 No Separate Entity Necessary.  The Parties agree that no separate legal or 

administrative entities are necessary to carry out this Agreement. 
 
15.11 Ownership of Property.  Except as expressly provided to the contrary in this 

Agreement, any real or personal property used or acquired by either party in connection with its 
performance under this Agreement will remain the sole property of such party, and the other party 
shall have no interest therein. 

 
15.12 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement and each and every provision 

hereof is for the sole benefit of the [City/Town/District] and the County. No other persons or 
Parties shall be deemed to have any rights in, under or to this Agreement. 
 

15.13 Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and 
the same agreement.   
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date set forth 
under their signatures below, and effective as of the date of the last party to sign. . 

 
 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 9 of 9 
 

County 
 
SNOHOMISH COUNTY 
 
 
By______________________________  
     Snohomish County Executive   Date 
 
 

City 
 
CITY OF GOLD BAR 
 
 
By __________________________ 
 Title:                                    Date 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
  /s/ George B Marsh          2/1/2024 
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney         Date 
 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
       
Office of the City Attorney  Date 
 

  

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ATTACHMENT A
SUBMISSION FORM





ATTACHMENT B
PROOF OF OWNERSHIP



scncdp
Highlight



ATTACHMENT C
CAPITAL FACITLIES PLAN







ATTACHMENT D
PROOF OF INSURANCE 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 1 of 9 
 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH COUNTY AND THE CITY 
OF GOLD BAR FOR THE LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

 
This INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), is made by and between 

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington (the “County”), and 
the City of Gold Bar, a Washington municipal corporation (the “City”), collectively the “Parties,” 
pursuant to chapter 39.34 RCW. 

 
RECITALS 

 
 
A. Amendment #1 to the 2024 Adopted Budget, approved by Ordinance 23-120, 

included $800,000 of REET II funds, collected pursuant to chapter 82.46 RCW, to be split equally 
between the five council districts for Council/City Partnership Projects; and 

 
B. The County Council adopted benchmarks for Council/City Partnership Projects 

through Motion 23-259; and 
 
C. Pursuant to the adopted benchmarks, the Council identified various projects for 

inclusion in the Council/City Partnership Projects; and  
 

D. One of the identified Council/City projects is the City’s Linda Ave Paving (“the 
Project”) which will pave a 22’ wide roadway over the recently installed water main; and  

 
E. Snohomish County has agreed to provide Fifty Thousand ($50,000) of REET II 

funds (the “Funds”) in support of the Project; and 
 
F. The City has provided the following: copy of submission form for County funds 

(Attachment A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference); proof of City ownership  of 
the Project property (Attachment B, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference); 
relevant portions of the City’s Capital Facilities Plan (“CFP”) identifying the Project  (Attachment 
C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference); and proof of insurance if not covered 
by WCIA (Attachment D, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference); and 

 
G. Pursuant to this Agreement, the County wishes to provide, and the City wishes to 

accept, the above-described Funds from the County. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective agreements set forth below and 

for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the County and the City agree as follows: 
 
1. Purpose of Agreement. 

 
This Agreement is authorized by and entered into pursuant to chapter 39.34 RCW. The 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 2 of 9 
 

purpose and intent of this Agreement is to define the responsibilities of the County and the City as 
they relate to the County’s provision of the funds to the City’s Project located at Linda Ave 
between 6th and 8th Street, Gold Bar, WA 98251  (the “Property”).  

 
2. Effective Date and Duration. 

 
This Agreement shall take effect when it has been duly executed by both parties  and either 

filed with the County Auditor or posted on the County’s Interlocal Agreements website. This 
Agreement shall remain in effect through December 31, 2025, unless earlier terminated pursuant 
to the provisions of Section 12 below; PROVIDED HOWEVER, that each party’s obligations are 
contingent upon local legislative appropriation of necessary funds for this specific purpose in 
accordance with applicable law. 
 
3. Administrators.   
 

Each party to this Agreement shall designate an individual (an “Administrator”), who may 
be designated by title or position, to oversee and administer such party’s participation in this 
Agreement. The Parties’ initial Administrators shall be the following individuals: 

 
County’s Initial Administrator: 
 
Rich Patton, Division Manager 
Snohomish County Division of Parks & 
Recreation 
6705 Puget Park Drive 
Snohomish, Washington 98296 
(425) 388-6618 phone 
Rich.patton@snoco.org 

City’s Initial Administrator: 
 
Steve Yarbrough, Mayor 
City of Gold Bar 
107 5th Street 
Gold Bar, WA 98251 
425-793-1101 
mayor@cityofgoldbar.us 

 
Either party may change its Administrator at any time by delivering written notice of such 

party’s new Administrator to the other party. 
 

4. Project Performance.  
 
 4.1 Certification of Real Property Interest.  The City certifies to the County that the 
City owns the Property, as evidenced by Exhibit B, and additional real property or easements are 
not needed to complete the Project.  
 
 4.2 City’s Financial Commitment.  The City certifies to the County that the City will 
have sufficient monies to complete the Project by the Project deadline identified in Section 4.4 
below and that the Project was included in the City’s CFP as evidenced by Attachment C. 
 
 4.3     Project Completion.   The City shall complete the Project as detailed in Attachment  
 

4.4 Project Deadline.  On or before December 31, 2025, the City shall complete the 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 3 of 9 
 

Project. In executing the Project, the City shall obtain and, upon request, provide the County with 
copies of all permits necessary to complete the Project. 
 
 4.5 Recognition of County as Financial Sponsor.  The City shall recognize the County 
as a financial sponsor of the Project as follows: 
 
  4.5.1 Upon completion of the Project or dedication of the completed Project, 
whichever comes first, the City shall install at the Project site a plaque in a form approved by the 
County that indicates that the County is a financial sponsor of or contributor to the Project; 
 
  4.5.2 The City shall invite the County to all events promoting the Project and 
recognize the County at all such events as a financial sponsor of the Project; 
 
  4.5.3 The City shall recognize the County as a financial sponsor in all brochures, 
banners, posters, and other promotional material related to the Project. 
 
 4.6 Project Maintenance.  The City shall be responsible for on-going capital 
improvements to, and maintenance of, the Project and the Property. The County makes no 
commitment to support the Project or Property beyond what is provided for in this Agreement and 
assumes no obligation for future support of the Project or Property except as expressly set forth in 
this Agreement. 
 
 4.7 Availability to County Residents.  The City shall make the Property available to all 
County residents on the same terms as it is available to residents of the City. 
 
5. Invoicing and Payment. 
 
 5.1 Invoicing. Within thirty days of final completion of the Project or by December 
30, 2025, whichever occurs first. The City shall submit to the County one invoice on City 
letterhead requesting disbursement of the Funds for the Project. The invoice needs to include 
name and address of City, name and the address of who the invoice is addressed to (the County), 
the date, the amount being requested for reimbursement, and the name of the project being 
funded.   Invoices shall provide line-item detail for materials, labor and overhead. Backup 
documentation should include of copies of invoices paid by the City to contractors/consultants 
for the work performed, which covers the full amount being requested for reimbursement 
and  proof of payment on those invoices. Additionally, providing progress photos of the site is 
strongly recommended with prior, during and after completion photos. 
 

5.2 Payment.  Unless the County delivers to the City written notice disputing the 
amount of a particular line item, within twenty (20) working days of receipt from the City of an 
invoice properly submitted to the County pursuant to Section 5.1, the County shall remit to the 
City an amount not to exceed Fifty Thousand ($50,000). In the event the total costs of the Project 
are less than $50,000, the County shall only remit those funds necessary to pay the submitted 
invoice in full unless otherwise disputed as provided in this Section 5.2. 
  



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 4 of 9 
 

 5.3 Accounting.  The City shall maintain a system of accounting and internal controls 
that complies with generally accepted accounting principles and governmental accounting and 
financial reporting standards and provisions concerning preservation and destruction of public 
documents in accordance with applicable laws, including chapter 40.14 RCW. 
 
 5.4 Recordkeeping.  The City shall maintain adequate records to support billings. The 
records shall be maintained by the City for a period of six (6) years after completion of this 
Agreement. The County, or any of its duly authorized representatives, shall have access to books, 
documents, or papers and records of the City relating to this Agreement for purposes of inspection, 
audit, or the making of excerpts or transcripts. 
 
 5.5 Audit and Repayment.  The City shall return Funds disbursed to it by the County 
under this Agreement upon the occurrence of any of the following events: 
 

5.5.1 If overpayments are made; or 
 
5.5.2 If an audit of the Project by the State or the County determines that the 
Funds have been expended for purposes not permitted by the REET II statute, the 
State, the County, or this Agreement. 

 
In the case of 5.5.1 or 5.5.2, the County shall make a written demand upon the City for repayment, 
and the City shall be obligated to repay to the County the Funds demanded within sixty (60) 
calendar days of the demand.  The County’s right to demand repayment from the City may be 
exercised as often as necessary to recoup from the City all funds required to be returned to the 
County. 

 
The City is solely responsible for seeking repayment from any subcontractor in conformance with 
its debt collection policy. 
 
6. Independent Contractor.  
 
 The City will perform all work associated with the Project as an independent contractor and not 
as an agent, employee, or servant of the County. The City shall be solely responsible for control, 
supervision, direction and discipline of its personnel, who shall be employees and agents of the 
City and not the County. The County shall only have the right to ensure performance. 

 
7. Indemnification/Hold Harmless. 

 
The City shall assume the risk of liability for damage, loss, costs and expense arising out 

of the activities under this Agreement and all use of any improvements it may place on the 
Property. The City shall hold harmless, indemnify and defend the County, its officers, elected and 
appointed officials, employees and agents from and against all claims, losses, lawsuits, actions, 
counsel fees, litigation costs, expenses, damages, judgments, or decrees by reason of damage to 
any property or business and/or any death, injury or disability to or of any person or party, 
including but not limited to any employee, arising out of or suffered, directly or indirectly, by 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 5 of 9 
 

reason of or in connection with the acquisition or use of the Property and this Agreement; 
PROVIDED, that the above indemnification does not apply to those damages solely caused by the 
negligence or willful misconduct of the County, its elected and appointed officials, officers, 
employees or agents. This indemnification obligation shall include, but is not limited to, all claims 
against the County by an employee or former employee of City, and City, by mutual negotiation, 
expressly waives all immunity and limitation on liability, as respects the County only, under any 
industrial insurance act, including Title 51 RCW, other Worker’s Compensation act, disability 
benefit act, or other employee benefit act of any jurisdiction which would otherwise be applicable 
in the case of such claim.    

 
8. Liability Related to City Ordinances, Policies, Rules and Regulations. 
 
 In executing this Agreement, the County does not assume liability or responsibility for or 
in any way release the City from any liability or responsibility which arises in whole or in part 
from the existence or effect of City ordinances, policies, rules or regulations. If any cause, claim, 
suit, action or administrative proceeding is commenced in which the enforceability and/or validity 
of any such City ordinance, policy, rule or regulation is at issue, the City shall defend the same at 
its sole expense and, if judgment is entered or damages are awarded against the City, the County, 
or both, the City shall satisfy the same, including all chargeable costs and reasonable attorney’s 
fees. 
 
9. Insurance. 

 
The City shall procure and maintain for the duration of this Agreement, insurance against 

claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from, or in connection with, 
exercise of the rights and privileges granted by this Agreement, by the City, its agents, 
representatives, and employees/subcontractors. The cost of such insurance shall be paid by the 
City. 

 
9.1 Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  General Liability:  Insurance Services 

Office Form No. CG 00 01 Ed. 11-88, covering COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY with 
limits no less than $1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury, personal 
injury, and property damage. 

 
9.2 Other Insurance Provisions.  Coverage shall be written on an “Occurrence” form. 

The insurance policies required in this Agreement are to contain or be endorsed to contain the 
County, its officers, officials, employees, and agents as additional insureds as respects liability 
arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of the [City/Town/District] in connection with 
this Agreement. 

 
9.3 Verification of Coverage.  The City shall furnish the County with certificate(s) of 

insurance and endorsement(s) required as evidenced by Attachment D.   
 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 6 of 9 
 

9.4 If the City is self-insured, in lieu of the insurance required in this Section 9, the City 
shall, upon request of the County, provide the County a letter certifying the City’s self-insurance 
program. 

 
10. Compliance with Laws. 

 
In the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, each party shall comply with 

all applicable federal, state, and local laws, rules and regulations. 
 

11. Default and Remedies. 
 
11.1 Default.  If either the County or the City fails to perform any act or obligation 

required to be performed by it hereunder, the other party shall deliver written notice of such failure 
to the non-performing party. The non-performing party shall have twenty (20) days after its receipt 
of such notice in which to correct its failure to perform the act or obligation at issue, after which 
time it shall be in default (“Default”) under this Agreement; provided, however, that if the non-
performance is of a type that could not reasonably be cured within said twenty (20) day period, 
then the non-performing party shall not be in Default if it commences cure within said twenty (20) 
day period and thereafter diligently pursues cure to completion. 

 
11.2 Remedies.  In the event of a party’s Default under this Agreement, then after 

giving notice and an opportunity to cure pursuant to Section 11.1 above, the non-Defaulting party 
shall have the right to exercise any or all rights and remedies available to it in law or equity. 

 
12. Early Termination. 

 
12.1 30 Days’ Notice. Except as provided in Section 12.2 below, either party may 

terminate this Agreement at any time, with or without cause, upon not less than thirty (30) days’ 
advance written notice to the other party. The termination notice shall specify the date on which 
the Agreement shall terminate. 

 
12.2 Termination for Breach. In the event that the City fails to complete the Project by 

December 31, 2025 and/or otherwise commits a Default as described in Section 11, the County 
may terminate this Agreement immediately by delivering written notice to the City. Within thirty 
(30) days of such early termination, the City shall return to the County all Funds previously 
disbursed from the County to the City for the Project plus interest at the rate of twelve percent 
(12%) per annum beginning thirty (30) days from the date of early termination. 
 
13. Dispute Resolution. 

 
In the event differences between the Parties should arise over the terms and conditions or 

the performance of this Agreement, the Parties shall use their best efforts to resolve those 
differences on an informal basis. If those differences cannot be resolved informally, the matter 
may be referred for mediation to a mediator mutually selected by the Parties. If mediation is not 
successful or if a party waives mediation, either of the Parties may institute legal action for specific 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 7 of 9 
 

performance of this Agreement or for damages.  
 

14. Notices. 
 
All notices required to be given by any party to the other party under this Agreement shall 

be in writing and shall be delivered either in person, by United States mail, or by electronic mail 
(email) to the applicable Administrator or the Administrator’s designee. Notice delivered in person 
shall be deemed given when accepted by the recipient. Notice by United States mail shall be 
deemed given as of the date the same is deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, and 
addressed to the Administrator, or their designee, at the addresses set forth in Section 3 of this 
Agreement. Notice delivered by email shall be deemed given as of the date and time received by 
the recipient.   

 
15. Miscellaneous. 

 
15.1 Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 

between the Parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any and all prior oral or 
written agreements between the Parties regarding the subject matter contained herein. This 
Agreement may not be modified or amended in any manner except by a written document executed 
with the same formalities as required for this Agreement and signed by the party against whom 
such modification is sought to be enforced. 
 
 15.2 Conflicts between Attachments and Text.  Should any conflicts exist between any 
attached exhibit or schedule and the text or main body of this Agreement, the text or main body of 
this Agreement shall prevail. 
 

15.3 Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed by and enforced 
in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington. The venue of any action arising out of this 
Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the State of Washington, in and for Snohomish 
County.  
 

15.4 Interpretation.  This Agreement and each of the terms and provisions of it are 
deemed to have been explicitly negotiated by the Parties, and the language in all parts of this 
Agreement shall, in all cases, be construed according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or 
against either of the Parties hereto. The captions and headings in this Agreement are used only for 
convenience and are not intended to affect the interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement. 
This Agreement shall be construed so that wherever applicable the use of the singular number shall 
include the plural number, and vice versa, and the use of any gender shall be applicable to all 
genders. 

 
15.5 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any 

person or circumstance shall, for any reason and to any extent, be found invalid or unenforceable, 
the remainder of this Agreement and the application of that provision to other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby, but shall instead continue in full force and effect, to 
the extent permitted by law. 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 8 of 9 
 

 
15.6 No Waiver.  A party’s forbearance or delay in exercising any right or remedy with 

respect to a Default by the other party under this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the 
Default at issue. Nor shall a waiver by either party of any particular Default constitute a waiver of 
any other Default or any similar future Default.  
 

15.7 No Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assigned, either in whole or in part, 
by either party without the express written consent of the other party, which may be granted or 
withheld in such party’s sole discretion. Any attempt to assign this Agreement in violation of the 
preceding sentence shall be null and void and shall constitute a Default under this Agreement. 
 

15.8 Warranty of Authority.  Each of the signatories hereto warrants and represents 
that he or she is competent and authorized to enter into this Agreement on behalf of the party for 
whom he or she purports to sign this Agreement. 
 

15.9 No Joint Venture.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as 
creating any type or manner of partnership, joint venture or other joint enterprise between the 
Parties. 

 
15.10 No Separate Entity Necessary.  The Parties agree that no separate legal or 

administrative entities are necessary to carry out this Agreement. 
 
15.11 Ownership of Property.  Except as expressly provided to the contrary in this 

Agreement, any real or personal property used or acquired by either party in connection with its 
performance under this Agreement will remain the sole property of such party, and the other party 
shall have no interest therein. 

 
15.12 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement and each and every provision 

hereof is for the sole benefit of the [City/Town/District] and the County. No other persons or 
Parties shall be deemed to have any rights in, under or to this Agreement. 
 

15.13 Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and 
the same agreement.   
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date set forth 
under their signatures below, and effective as of the date of the last party to sign. . 

 
 



  
 

 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SNOHOMISH 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GOLD BAR FOR THE  
LINDA AVE PAVING PROJECT 

Page 9 of 9 
 

County 
 
SNOHOMISH COUNTY 
 
 
By______________________________  
     Snohomish County Executive   Date 
 
 

City 
 
CITY OF GOLD BAR 
 
 
By __________________________ 
 Title:                                    Date 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
  /s/ George B Marsh          2/1/2024 
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney         Date 
 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
       
Office of the City Attorney  Date 
 

  

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ATTACHMENT A
SUBMISSION FORM





ATTACHMENT B
PROOF OF OWNERSHIP



scncdp
Highlight



ATTACHMENT C
CAPITAL FACITLIES PLAN







ATTACHMENT D
PROOF OF INSURANCE 


	03-05-2024 CC agenda
	02-20-2024 CC Minutes
	3-05-2024_Check Register
	2024_REETII_ILA_GoldBar_ForSignature
	5.5.1 If overpayments are made; or
	5.5.2 If an audit of the Project by the State or the County determines that the Funds have been expended for purposes not permitted by the REET II statute, the State, the County, or this Agreement.
	15.1 Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any and all prior oral or written agreements between the Parties regarding the subject matter co...
	15.6 No Waiver.  A party’s forbearance or delay in exercising any right or remedy with respect to a Default by the other party under this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the Default at issue. Nor shall a waiver by either party of any partic...
	15.7 No Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assigned, either in whole or in part, by either party without the express written consent of the other party, which may be granted or withheld in such party’s sole discretion. Any attempt to assign this...
	15.8 Warranty of Authority.  Each of the signatories hereto warrants and represents that he or she is competent and authorized to enter into this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom he or she purports to sign this Agreement.
	15.13 Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same agreement.
	Attachments.pdf
	AttachmentA
	AttachmentB_D


	2024_REETII_ILA_GoldBar_Signed
	5.5.1 If overpayments are made; or
	5.5.2 If an audit of the Project by the State or the County determines that the Funds have been expended for purposes not permitted by the REET II statute, the State, the County, or this Agreement.
	15.1 Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any and all prior oral or written agreements between the Parties regarding the subject matter co...
	15.6 No Waiver.  A party’s forbearance or delay in exercising any right or remedy with respect to a Default by the other party under this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the Default at issue. Nor shall a waiver by either party of any partic...
	15.7 No Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assigned, either in whole or in part, by either party without the express written consent of the other party, which may be granted or withheld in such party’s sole discretion. Any attempt to assign this...
	15.8 Warranty of Authority.  Each of the signatories hereto warrants and represents that he or she is competent and authorized to enter into this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom he or she purports to sign this Agreement.
	15.13 Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same agreement.
	Attachments.pdf
	AttachmentA
	AttachmentB_D



	Text3: 


